

1 **Vancouver, BC**

2 **December 16, 2011**

3 **(PROCEEDINGS RECONVENED AT 10:05 A.M.)**

4 THE REGISTRAR: Order. This hearing is now resumed.

5 THE COMMISSIONER: Mr. Nathanson.

6 MR. NATHANSON: Thank you. I'm counsel for Marion Bryce and I
7 wish to call her and have her affirmed, please.

8 THE COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

9 **MARION BRYCE: Affirmed**

10 THE REGISTRAR: Would you state your name, please.

11 A Marion Bryce.

12 THE REGISTRAR: Thank you. Counsel.

13 **EXAMINATION IN CHIEF BY MR. NATHANSON:**

14 Q Marion, you are the mother of Patricia Johnson?

15 A Yes.

16 Q Patricia's birthday was December 2nd, 1976?

17 A Yes.

18 Q She would have been 35 years of age this
19 December?

20 A Yes.

21 Q Patricia had two children; the first Eric, born
22 on March 4, 1994?

23 A Yes.

24 Q And a daughter, Autumn, born on April 11, 1995?

25 A Yes.

1 Q Can you tell us something about Patricia?

2 A Well, she was a very good mother and she loved to
3 write poems and she was exciting and outgoing and
4 just loved life.

5 Q Did she have a drug problem?

6 A Yes, she did.

7 Q Over the last couple of years of her life?

8 A Yeah, two years, about two years.

9 Q Did she frequent the Downtown Eastside?

10 A Yes.

11 Q Can you tell me about Patricia's relationship
12 with her two children?

13 A She was always there for them, and for birthdays,
14 celebrations, didn't miss any occasions at all.

15 Q When you talk about celebrations other than
16 birthdays, what sort of occasions did she make
17 contact with her children and you?

18 A Birthdays, Mother's Day, Christmas. All
19 occasions.

20 Q When did you last see Patricia?

21 A January 1st, 2001.

22 Q And on your birthday -- your birthday is February
23 21st, it was February 21st of 2001?

24 A Yes.

25 Q Did you hear from Patricia on your birthday?

1 A Yes, I did.

2 Q Did you ever hear from her again after that?

3 A No.

4 Q On March 4, 2001, it was Eric's birthday. Did he
5 receive a call from Patricia?

6 A No.

7 Q Was that a matter of concern for you?

8 A Yes, it was.

9 Q What, if anything, did you do as a result of
10 that?

11 A I went down to 222 Main Street to the front desk
12 to report her missing and they told me to phone
13 911.

14 Q Did you use a phone at 222 Main Street?

15 A Yes, I did.

16 Q Was this around March the 5th, the day after her
17 son's birthday?

18 A Yes.

19 Q When you used the phone and called 911 did you
20 speak to a woman?

21 A Yes, I did.

22 Q Can you tell the commissioner what the discussion
23 was?

24 A I reported my daughter missing and she had told
25 me that, "Oh, she will show up. She's just out

1 there partying because she's a working girl."

2 Q Did this woman ask you if your daughter was a
3 working girl?

4 A Yes, she did.

5 Q Did you tell her that she frequented the Downtown
6 Eastside?

7 A Yes.

8 Q So the woman's response to you was, having told
9 her that, what did the woman say?

10 A She'll eventually show up.

11 THE COMMISSIONER: She was out there partying?

12 A She was out there partying and she would
13 eventually show up.

14 MR. NATHANSON:

15 Q Did you go back to 222 Main Street the next day?

16 A Yes, I did.

17 Q Why did you do that?

18 A To bring some pictures to the missing -- to the
19 missing persons department.

20 Q To bring pictures of Patricia?

21 A Yes.

22 Q Did you attempt then to go to the room where they
23 had the Missing Persons bureau?

24 A Yes, and they told me I wasn't allowed to and to
25 phone again upstairs.

1 Q While you were at 222 Main you phoned upstairs
2 and spoke to another woman or the same woman?

3 A The same woman.

4 Q What did you discuss with that woman?

5 A That I had some pictures and I'd like to bring
6 them upstairs to get her acknowledged that she's
7 missing.

8 Q What did the woman tell you, if anything?

9 A Same thing. She will eventually show up; she's
10 out partying; she has a drug habit; she will
11 eventually show up, and she told me to leave the
12 pictures at the front desk at the police station.

13 Q Did you do so?

14 A Yes.

15 Q Did you call again after that to the Missing
16 Persons Unit?

17 A Yes, I did, several times.

18 Q Did you leave your name and telephone number?

19 A Yes.

20 Q Did you get a response before you were
21 interviewed in about June of 2001?

22 A No.

23 Q Now, around mid May of 2001 it was Mother's Day.
24 Did you hear from Patricia?

25 A No.

1 Q And in approximately June of 2001 did the police
2 come and take a statement from you?

3 A Yes, they did.

4 Q Did they do that again on another occasion?

5 A They did it several times.

6 Q What impression did you have from --

7 A That I was being interrogated.

8 Q Because?

9 A Because just --

10 Q The questions you were being asked?

11 A The questions I was being asked and I felt like I
12 was being interrogated.

13 THE COMMISSIONER: Sorry, you felt as though --

14 A They were interrogating me.

15 THE COMMISSIONER: Interrogating you?

16 A Yes.

17 MR. NATHANSON:

18 Q In May of 2005 did the police show you
19 photographs of certain jewellery that were
20 recovered from the Pickton property?

21 A Yes.

22 Q Did you recognize any of the elements of the
23 jewellery?

24 A Yes, I did.

25 Q What did you recognize?

1 A A ring and bracelet attached together.

2 Q Belonging to whom?

3 A Patricia.

4 Q Now, can I ask you this general question: Were
5 you satisfied with the efforts the police were
6 making to find Patricia?

7 A No.

8 Q Because?

9 A Because they weren't doing anything for any of
10 the girls.

11 MR. NATHANSON: Those are my questions. Thank you.

12 THE COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

13 MR. VERTLIEB: Mr. Nathanson, I trust you have no objection if
14 we just ask a few questions.

15 MR. NATHANSON: Not at all.

16 **CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. VERTLIEB:**

17 Q Ms. Bryce, just to help us understand a bit more
18 about what you've told us, the woman that you
19 spoke with -- you never met her, I understand?

20 A No.

21 Q Can you tell us what your impression about her
22 was in terms of her voice or age or anything that
23 would help us perhaps later on figure out who you
24 were speaking to?

25 A She was very nasty on the phone and didn't have a

1 care in the world.

2 Q You say nasty on the phone --

3 A Very snappy.

4 Q Snappy in the tone of voice or it --

5 A Yes.

6 Q Help us to understand why you say that.

7 A Because of the way she answered the phone and the
8 way she conducted herself to me on the phone.

9 Q Did you have any sense of her age? I know it's
10 hard when you're on a telephone call to figure
11 out someone's age, but did you have any sense of
12 that?

13 A No.

14 Q Nothing about an accent or anything like that?

15 A No.

16 Q You don't know her name?

17 A No, I don't.

18 Q Did she ever give you her name?

19 A No.

20 Q Now, in terms of the police that came to see you,
21 you said they took a statement several times?

22 A Over and over and over.

23 Q Tell us about the police. Was it one police
24 officer or two?

25 A It was -- at the beginning it was one and then

1 there was several, several.

2 Q Do you have any names?

3 A Just one name, Palmer or Parmar.

4 Q I'm sorry?

5 A Mr. Palmer.

6 Q Palmer?

7 A Yeah, or -- I can't remember his name right now.

8 Q The first time one police officer came?

9 A Yes.

10 Q That was a male?

11 A Yes.

12 Q And approximately how old?

13 A 40 to 50.

14 Q In uniform?

15 A No.

16 Q And came to your home?

17 A Yes.

18 Q And then you were interviewed by more than one
19 officer another time?

20 A Yes.

21 Q Was that more male officers or a mix?

22 A It was done at the North Van.

23 Q At the police station in North Vancouver?

24 A Yes.

25 Q So that would be RCMP?

1 A Yes.

2 Q The police that interviewed you, were they both
3 men or both women?

4 A Both men.

5 Q You don't have names?

6 A No.

7 Q Were they from your understanding RCMP officers
8 or Vancouver Police officers?

9 A I thought they were like detectives.

10 Q You don't know which police force?

11 A No, I don't.

12 Q Did the woman tell you at the Missing Person Unit
13 why you should take the pictures to the front
14 desk and not meet her to give them to her
15 directly?

16 A Because I wasn't allowed to go upstairs.

17 Q She said that to you?

18 A Yes.

19 Q So You went to 222 Main?

20 A Yes.

21 Q Was it possibly 312 Main?

22 A No. It was 222 Main.

23 Q That's the courthouse?

24 A That's the police station.

25 Q Whether it's 222 or 312, you know it was the

1 police station?

2 A Yes.

3 Q When you were speaking to the woman on the phone
4 where did you think she was located?

5 A Somewhere in the building.

6 Q In that building?

7 A Yes.

8 Q Why is it that you thought you weren't allowed to
9 go upstairs to meet her?

10 A I had no idea.

11 Q Did she say that?

12 A She said all missing reports are done by phone.

13 Q But on the subject of the pictures that you had
14 of your daughter, did you ask if you could meet
15 her directly and give them to her directly?

16 A Yes, and she told me no, to leave them at the
17 front desk.

18 Q Did she tell you why?

19 A No.

20 Q You did that?

21 A Yes, I did.

22 Q When you saw the police a number of months later
23 did they have those pictures with them?

24 A No, they did not.

25 Q Did they appear -- the first officer --

1 A I never received pictures back after that at all.

2 I don't know what happened to them or anything.

3 Q You don't know if the police had even seen those
4 pictures that you left?

5 A Yeah.

6 Q Is there anything else about your dealing with
7 the police that you recall as something you want
8 the commissioner to hear about?

9 A Well, when all these girls were going missing
10 they were doing nothing about it. They weren't
11 doing their job at all.

12 Q Did you meet some of the other family members?

13 A Oh, yes.

14 Q Have you had any dealings with the police since
15 2005 when they returned some of your daughter's
16 possessions?

17 A They have never returned any possessions to me.

18 Q I misunderstood. I thought you received a ring
19 and a bracelet?

20 A No. I saw it on the slides of the exhibits.

21 Q That was in 2005?

22 A Yes.

23 Q Since that time in 2005 have you had any dealings
24 with any police officers, either RCMP or
25 Vancouver Police?

1 A No.

2 MR. VERTLIEB: Thank you very much.

3 A Thank you.

4 THE COMMISSIONER: Any other questions?

5 MR. CHANTLER: Mr. Commissioner, I have a couple questions and
6 something to hand up.

7 THE COMMISSIONER: Yes.

8 **CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. CHANTLER:**

9 Q Ms. Bryce, my name is Neil Chantler and I'm
10 counsel for 25 families of missing and murdered
11 women along with Mr. Cameron Ward and I just have
12 a couple questions for you and wanted to show you
13 a couple of documents and ask you if these
14 documents accord with your recollection of what
15 happened.

16 Is the package of documents before the
17 witness?

18 THE REGISTRAR: It is.

19 MR. CHANTLER:

20 Q If you turn to the first page of this package
21 there's a picture of a photograph and I believe
22 that's Patricia?

23 A Yes.

24 Q Have you seen that before?

25 A Yes.

1 Q Is that a photograph of Patricia?

2 A Yes.

3 Q How old would she have been when this photograph
4 was taken?

5 A I'm really not sure. I think maybe 16.

6 Q You've made some mention of photographs you
7 brought to the police. Does this happen to be
8 one of the photographs you brought to the police?

9 A No.

10 Q If we turn through this document to page 3, it
11 appears to be a document entitled Missing Persons
12 Report. The date on this document is May 31,
13 2001. This is a couple of months after you first
14 filed your report. Are you aware of who filed
15 this Missing Persons Report?

16 A Maybe her sister.

17 Q Do you have firsthand knowledge of her sister
18 filing a report after you?

19 A Yes.

20 Q Did you know about this report at the time it was
21 filed?

22 A She was with me; at the same time.

23 Q Were you aware if at that time the police had
24 Patricia on a missing persons list? Had they
25 ever told you that?

1 A No, they had not.

2 Q Were you aware at the time that there was a
3 missing persons list, if there were other missing
4 women from the Downtown Eastside?

5 A I was aware of women going missing down there but
6 I wasn't aware of a list.

7 Q Did you perceive any trouble convincing the
8 police that Patricia was in fact missing?

9 A Can you repeat the question?

10 Q Did you believe you were you were having
11 difficulty persuading the police --

12 A Yes.

13 Q If we turn to page 5 this is a document that's
14 disclosed to us by the police. It's a
15 concordance document, VPD-003-002433, for the
16 record. This appears to be the text from a news
17 story written by Lori Culbert, Lindsay Kines and
18 Kim Bolan, published in the *Vancouver Sun* on
19 September 21st, 2001, so some months after you
20 initially went to the police and reported
21 Patricia missing. The title is "Investigation
22 turns up startling new numbers: Police to
23 announce expanded probe". If we move through
24 this article, what I've identified as page 9
25 looking at the top right-hand corner, the article

1 attributes some comments to you. About half way
2 down the page it says:

3 Marion Bryce also says she has lobbied the
4 police to add her daughter Patricia Johnson
5 to the list of missing women, but first
6 heard they were considering such a move this
7 week from a *Vancouver Sun* reporter.

8 I'll pause there. Does that accord with your
9 recollection of what happened?

10 A Yes.

11 Q "Nobody's called me. Nobody cares," Bryce
12 said. "I have to phone them. They don't
13 call me."

14 I'll pause there. Does that accord with your
15 recollection of what happened?

16 A Yes.

17 Q Skipping ahead one paragraph. This quote appears
18 to be attributed to you.

19 "The police are doing nothing. They don't
20 care about these girls who have gone missing
21 from the downtown," said Bryce, who is
22 frustrated that officers haven't gone to the
23 media to publicize her daughter's
24 disappearance.

25 I just want you to confirm if that accords with

1 your recollection of what happened?

2 A Yes.

3 Q If we move forward to the last page of this
4 package, page 13 -- sorry, turn to page 11,
5 please. This is, for the record, document
6 RCMP-017-007241. It's a Continuation Report. It
7 appears to be an RCMP document and it includes a
8 series of notes time stamped and date stamped,
9 the date being November 15, 2001, a couple of
10 months beyond that news story.

11 The second page of that continuation report,
12 page 12 of my package, reports at 14:36 hours:

13 Called Marion Bryce Re Johnson, left
14 message. Called her work as advised by
15 Sergeant Don Jarvis, advised her of the
16 *Vancouver Sun* news release and the inclusion
17 of Johnson in the updated poster.

18 Do you recall any contact with police at that
19 time?

20 A No.

21 Q Do you remember being told about that at the time
22 that Patricia was finally being added to the
23 missing person list?

24 A No.

25 Q Were you ever at any point updated by the police

1 that Patricia had been added to a missing person
2 list?

3 A No.

4 Q If we turn to the last page, page 13, for the
5 record RCMP-020-005355, this again is a
6 Continuation Report, it appears to be an RCMP
7 document, dated stamped November 27, 2001. Do
8 you recall any contact with the police at all in
9 November?

10 A No.

11 Q I just want to highlight the comment at the
12 beginning of the third paragraph, and I quote:

13 Bryce did not really have any relevant
14 information to add to this file.

15 Do you recall -- to me that expresses a certain
16 attitude that the police may have had in their
17 dealings with you. Does that --

18 A No.

19 Q Does that accord with a certain feeling you had
20 about your dealings with the police?

21 A I don't understand.

22 Q How did you feel treated by the police when you
23 went to them with information about Patricia?

24 A I wasn't treated fairly at all.

25 MR. CHANTLER: Those are my questions. Thank you very much,

1 Ms. Bryce.

2 THE COMMISSIONER: Any further questions? Mr. Gervais?

3 MS. GERVAIS: No questions.

4 THE COMMISSIONER: Mr. Dickson.

5 **CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DICKSON:**

6 Q My name is Tim Dickson. I'm counsel for the
7 Vancouver Police Department, and I want to say at
8 the outset on behalf of the department that your
9 testimony about going to the police station and
10 speaking with the woman on the phone and not
11 being able to give a report at that time is
12 disturbing and the department takes that very
13 seriously and conduct of that kind is totally
14 contrary to what the department expects of its
15 members and its employees, and I do want you to
16 know that the department takes that very, very
17 seriously.

18 When you had those interactions with the
19 woman on the phone, did you tell anyone else at
20 the Vancouver Police around that time about it?

21 A No.

22 Q You had contact with Vancouver Police detectives
23 later on, beginning in June of 2001?

24 A Yes.

25 Q Did you tell them about your attempts to report

1 Patricia's disappearance?

2 A Yes, I did.

3 Q Who did you tell?

4 A Well, there was so many officers at the time I
5 can't remember the name.

6 Q Do you have a sense of when you told the police
7 about your attempts to report earlier? Do you
8 know whether it was in 2001 or 2002?

9 A 2001.

10 Q Do you have a sense of what time of year?

11 A In the middle, June.

12 Q Ms. Bryce, the only document that we have in our
13 files about Patricia being reported missing is
14 dated May 31, 2001, but I've heard what you've
15 said this morning, and I just want to take you
16 through a little bit of what happened after that,
17 after that date, if I could.

18 In early June from my review of the file it
19 appears that photographs of Patricia were ordered
20 and her welfare records were checked and a
21 driving record query was done and what is called
22 a CPIC query and her criminal record was obtained
23 and there was an offline CPIC check. I imagine
24 you weren't aware of those steps being taken?

25 A No.

1 Q Later in June a constable named Dave Dickson went
2 to the WISH drop-in centre. I think you know the
3 WISH drop-in centre?

4 A Yes.

5 Q He showed around Patricia's photograph to people
6 at WISH. Were you aware of that?

7 A No, I wasn't.

8 Q Many people recognized her but they hadn't seen
9 her recently. Do you remember a Detective
10 Dickhout?

11 A No, I don't.

12 Q My review of the file shows, as you've testified,
13 that a VPD member met with you, interviewed you
14 in June; do you recall that?

15 A Yes.

16 Q In early July it seems there was a tip from a
17 woman at WISH that Patricia might be in Montreal.
18 Do you remember that?

19 A Yes, I do, but it wasn't true.

20 Q The VPD talked to you about that yes, they did?

21 A Yes.

22 Q They talked to your other daughter, Catherine?

23 A Yes.

24 Q And it wasn't true that she had gone to Montreal?

25 A That's correct.

1 Q I see from the file that Detective Dickhout spoke
2 with you in mid August and gave you an update on
3 what was happening. Do you remember that?

4 A No, I don't.

5 Q You wouldn't know this, but he reviewed the file
6 with the Evenhanded investigation team in late
7 August and Patricia was added to VICLAS in
8 September. In September Patricia's missing
9 person poster was sent to Lindsay Kines of the
10 Vancouver Sun. Were you aware of that?

11 A No.

12 Q That was perhaps in relation to this article that
13 Mr. Chantler showed you. Then in September
14 through October there were dealings between the
15 VPD and the RCMP on the Gulf Islands because
16 there was a tip that arose I think in connection
17 with Jeanette McKenzie, Patricia's cousin, I
18 believe?

19 A Yes.

20 Q There was a suggestion that Patricia had lived on
21 Mayne Island in the past and that she had lived
22 there with a man who was thought to be dangerous
23 and became a person of interest?

24 A That's not true.

25 Q Which part is not true?

1 A That she was living with a man that was
2 dangerous.

3 Q It turned out it was not true?

4 A Yes.

5 Q And they found that that was not true, they were
6 able to obtain a telephone number in connection
7 with the man and they found out his identity and
8 his residence and they showed photos around Mayne
9 Island and it was determined that she had not
10 been there; do you remember that?

11 A Yes, I do.

12 Q In September it seems that Detective Dickhout
13 made a summary of the information he had received
14 from you and you and he had a long conversation
15 in early 2001. Do you recall that? I'm sorry,
16 early October 2001. You don't remember that?

17 A No, I don't.

18 Q I've seen quite a lot of correspondence and
19 telephone calls in the file between Jeanette
20 McKenzie and the VPD. Were you aware she was
21 corresponding with them?

22 A No, I wasn't.

23 Q In early November there was a Crime Stoppers tip
24 from a client of Covenant House who had heard
25 that someone there had seen Patricia at the

1 beginning of November 2001 around the Vancouver
2 School Board and the VPD took various steps to
3 follow up on that. Do you remember that?

4 A No, I don't.

5 Q In mid November you met with the VPD, on November
6 20th ultimately, and it had to be rescheduled a
7 number of times. The first time you weren't
8 available and I'm not sure why it was rescheduled
9 after that, but do you remember that?

10 A No, I don't.

11 Q On November 6th, just going back a little bit,
12 you were interviewed it appears from the file by
13 Detective Keen and Detective Dickhout; do you
14 recall that?

15 A No, I don't.

16 Q Do you remember that you told them that a woman
17 -- I'm going to leave out her name -- if I can
18 tell you enough that you remember what we're
19 talking about I'll just leave out the woman's
20 name for now. That she had come into the
21 restaurant you were working at and she told you
22 that Patricia was in the sewers?

23 A Yes.

24 Q And she told you that she had been with Patricia
25 when a man, who she thought was a drug dealer,

1 had threatened to kill them?

2 A I don't remember her saying that to me but she
3 did say that Patty was in a sewer.

4 THE COMMISSIONER: Patty was in a what?

5 A In the sewer downtown.

6 MR. DICKSON: Under the streets, I believe.

7 A Under the streets.

8 Q So the VPD went to the Vancouver sewer department
9 to discuss inspecting the sewer manholes and how
10 big the sewers were and is this possible and what
11 would happen if someone was put into the sewer.
12 Were you told about that?

13 A No, I wasn't.

14 Q And then they also visited this woman's mother's
15 house and they spoke with the woman and they came
16 to the conclusion that she was not reliable
17 because she heard voices and omens and she said
18 she wasn't sure if she had imagined this whole
19 event or not, and I see from the file they
20 reported this to you.

21 A Yes. I know who you're talking about, that she
22 wasn't reliable and she was hallucinating.

23 Q And later in November there was an issue with
24 Patricia's medical services records because the
25 records appeared to show that she was last seen

1 by a doctor in August of 2001. Do you remember
2 that?

3 A No.

4 Q You don't remember this issue coming up?

5 A No, I don't.

6 Q They went to the clinic where she is said to have
7 visited and they spoke with staff there and they
8 determined that a new employee had mistaken
9 another patient for Patricia and that it was a
10 false entry on her medical services records. I
11 take it you didn't hear about that?

12 A No.

13 MR. DICKSON: Then after November of 2001 the RCMP took over
14 the investigation.

15 Ms. Bryce, before I sit down allow me to say
16 on behalf of the Vancouver Police that they are
17 sorry for your loss, very sorry Mr. Pickton was
18 not caught sooner and very sorry that you found
19 your interactions with the department to be
20 intimidating and frustrating.

21 THE COMMISSIONER: Any further questions?

22 MR. MAJAWA: Mr. Commissioner, Andrew Majawa for the
23 Government of Canada, just for the reasons given
24 by my colleague Mr. Bronger on October 24th we
25 have no questions for Ms. Bryce.

1 THE COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

2 MR. CHANTLER: Mr. Nathanson, if I could just have the
3 document I passed up marked as the next exhibit,
4 probably with NR.

5 THE COMMISSIONER: All right.

6 THE REGISTRAR: That will be marked as Exhibit 54(NR).

7 **(EXHIBIT 54(NR): Document entitled Missing Women**
8 **Commission of Inquiry Cross-Examination of Marion**
9 **Bryce by Counsel for the Families)**

10 MR. NATHANSON: Mr. Commissioner, I have no re-examination.
11 If you have no questions I'd ask the witness be
12 excused.

13 THE COMMISSIONER: I want to thank you for coming here and
14 testifying and telling us about your loss. I
15 just want you to know that all of us in this room
16 are sympathetic with you and I can only imagine
17 what you've gone through. Being a parent myself,
18 as others are in this room, I can't imagine
19 anything worse than having a son or daughter
20 disappear and not know what has happened to them
21 and particularly what happened with Patricia. So
22 I want to thank you for your courage and your
23 thoughtfulness and your concern in coming here,
24 because it's important that we hear from you so
25 that we can improve the system, so I just want

1 you to know that.

2 A Thank you very much.

3 MR. VERTLIEB: I think Ms. Livingston has some questions.

4 MS. LIVINGSTON: Just a couple of questions.

5 THE COMMISSIONER: All right.

6 **CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. LIVINGSTON:**

7 Q I'm Ann Livingston and I'm speaking on behalf of
8 the Vancouver Area Network of Drug Users.

9 Was Patricia addicted to drugs?

10 A Yes, she was.

11 Q Did your daughter ever seek treatment for her
12 addiction?

13 A Yes.

14 Q What year was that?

15 A I really can't tell you. Her daughter was very
16 young.

17 Q And did she seek treatment more than once?

18 A Yes, she did.

19 Q How did it go for her, the treatment she sought?

20 A It went well and then she had her slip, relapse.

21 Q Did your daughter have a family physician that
22 you know of?

23 A Yes, she did.

24 Q And do you know if she was offered methadone
25 maintenance therapy?

1 together as he's coming in from Alberta. We also
2 have Deputy Chief Evans coming from Ontario and
3 she's wanting to know when it's likely we'll
4 start her evidence. I don't like to do these --
5 I think while we're together it might be helpful
6 if we can just go around the room and have people
7 give us an estimate on how long they're going to
8 be with Superintendent Williams.

9 THE COMMISSIONER: Who wants to go first here? Mr. Chantler,
10 are you able to tell us?

11 MR. CHANTLER: Mr. Commissioner, I'm not going to be in a
12 position to provide an estimate for Mr. Ward
13 today. I was not advised I would have to be
14 giving this estimate.

15 MR. VERTLIEB: Mr. Chantler, I understand that, but you could
16 ask Mr. Ward to send us ASAP his estimate because
17 we do want to be courteous to these
18 out-of-province witnesses. He may have no
19 questions because of his view about this
20 evidence, he may have many, but just let us know
21 what his position is. Ms. Gervais?

22 MS. GERVAIS: Robyn Gervais, counsel for aboriginal interests.
23 This is still a matter I'm discussing with Mr.
24 Baynham but in previous discussions I expect we'd
25 be one to two hours.

1 MR. VERTLIEB: Mr. Dickson, can you help with the VPD's view
2 of how long?

3 MR. DICKSON: Mr. Commissioner, like others it's difficult to
4 tell. We're quite far down on the list so we
5 will not wish at all to go over matters that have
6 been discussed before. I would guess perhaps an
7 hour, quite possibly quite a lot shorter and
8 quite possibly a bit longer.

9 MR. VERTLIEB: DOJ, please.

10 MR. MAJAWA: Andrew Majawa for the Government of Canada. He
11 is, of course, being put forth, he's a member of
12 the RCMP and it will depend of course on how
13 detailed commission counsel is with him, but I
14 wouldn't expect us to be longer than an hour to
15 two hours at this point.

16 MR. VERTLIEB: Thank you. That's helpful. It's sounding to
17 me then -- and we would be perhaps half a day or
18 so with him because we've heard so much now from
19 Deputy Chief LePard. What we don't have is much
20 of the overview of what the RCMP did under
21 Evenhanded and you've heard how Deputy LePard
22 talked about that. So what I'm hearing is we
23 should be able to finish him in those three days.

24 THE COMMISSIONER: I would think less than three days.

25 MR. VERTLIEB: I'm thinking that. I really would like to get

1 Mr. Ward's input as soon as we can. If you don't
2 mind -- I don't want to bring Deputy Evans out
3 from Ontario to start on a Friday afternoon and
4 have her be here over the weekend unnecessarily
5 so we might have to start her on the Monday.

6 People seem to have gone longer than we
7 anticipated, as I mentioned earlier, and I don't
8 say that critically. We also need Mr. Gratl's
9 estimate, if someone could help us with that.

10 MR. COOPER: Mr. Commissioner, Seth Cooper, articling student
11 for Jason Gratl. I'm not authorized to give time
12 estimates but I will pass on to Mr. Gratl to get
13 in touch with commission counsel as soon as
14 possible.

15 THE COMMISSIONER: We need to know these things -- I'm not
16 being critical of you. The Williams' report I
17 assume has been in the hands of counsel for a
18 considerable period of time. I don't know if
19 it's too much to know if after looking at the
20 report what the approximate time would be. We
21 want to be convenient to all the witnesses, some
22 of whom are coming from long distances and we
23 want to accommodate people.

24 MR. VERTLIEB: Yes, thank you. I agree with that comment
25 completely. The other part of this is we should

1 definitely for the Evans' evidence plan to sit on
2 the Friday. I don't have a sense yet of how long
3 people are going to be with her. Based on what
4 I've just heard, I'm going to ask everyone to
5 send us their estimate for Evans' evidence. She
6 should have some idea when she will be returning
7 to her police duties in Ontario. Having said
8 that, I think what we need to do, Mr.
9 Commissioner, is look seriously at extending the
10 hearing time.

11 THE COMMISSIONER: I agree.

12 MR. VERTLIEB: We can have those discussions during the break.
13 But certainly with Superintendent Williams
14 everyone knows we're going to sit Wednesday,
15 Thursday, Friday. With Deputy Chief Evans we
16 should plan to sit Friday, in any event. She
17 should be finished before that but in case she's
18 not. We can decide about starting to sit
19 Fridays, a shorter lunch break, and we can have
20 those discussions. Ms. Brooks and I will reflect
21 on it and let our colleagues know during the
22 break. It seems evident we're going to have to
23 look at extending the sitting time,
24 notwithstanding the concerns counsel expressed
25 about their own life on Friday. I think that's

1 as much as we can accomplish. We'll adjourn,
2 subject of course to your direction, until the
3 11th of January, the Wednesday.

4 THE COMMISSIONER: I want to thank all counsel for their
5 participation and their assistance. We'll
6 adjourn.

7 THE REGISTRAR: The hearing is now adjourned until January the
8 11th at a time to be set.

9 (PROCEEDINGS ADJOURNED AT 10:50 A.M.)

10

11

12

13

14 I hereby certify the foregoing to
15 be a true and accurate transcript
16 of the proceedings transcribed to
17 the best of my skill and ability.

18

19

20 Margaret M. Wills

21 UNITED REPORTING SERVICE LTD.

22

23

24

25

- 1
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5
- 6
- 7
- 8
- 9
- 10
- 11
- 12
- 13
- 14
- 15
- 16
- 17
- 18
- 19
- 20
- 21
- 22
- 23
- 24
- 25

EXHIBITS

NO.	DESCRIPTION	PAGE
	(EXHIBIT 54(NR): Document entitled Missing Women Commission of Inquiry Cross-Examination of Marion Bryce by Counsel for the Families)	35

INDEX OF PROCEEDINGS

MARION BRYCE (for Family of Patricia Johnson	
-in chief by Mr. Nathanson	1
-cross-exam by Mr. Chantler	13
-cross-exam by Mr. Dickson	19
-cross-exam by Ms. Livingston	28
Proceedings	28

corner [1] - 15:25
correct [1] - 21:25
correspondence [1] - 23:18
corresponding [1] - 23:21
counsel [9] - 1:6, 13:10, 19:6, 30:22, 31:13, 32:13, 32:17, 33:24, 34:4
Counsel [3] - 1:12, 27:9, 1:7
couple [7] - 2:7, 13:5, 13:12, 13:13, 14:13, 17:9, 28:4
courage [1] - 27:22
course [3] - 31:11, 31:12, 34:2
courteous [1] - 30:17
courthouse [1] - 10:23
cousin [1] - 22:17
Covenant [1] - 23:24
CPIC [2] - 20:22, 20:23
Crime [1] - 23:23
criminal [1] - 20:22
critical [1] - 32:16
critically [1] - 32:8
cross [5] - 29:18, 29:24, 2:4, 2:4, 2:5
CROSS [4] - 7:16, 13:8, 19:5, 28:6
Cross [2] - 27:8, 1:6
cross-exam [3] - 2:4, 2:4, 2:5
cross-examination [2] - 29:18, 29:24
Cross-Examination [2] - 27:8, 1:6
CROSS-EXAMINATION [4] - 7:16, 13:8, 19:5, 28:6
Culbert [1] - 15:17

D

dangerous [2] - 22:22, 23:2
date [4] - 14:12, 17:8, 17:9, 20:17
dated [2] - 18:7, 20:14
daughter [10] - 1:24, 3:24, 4:2, 11:14, 16:4, 21:22, 27:19, 28:11, 28:15, 28:21
daughter's [2] - 12:15, 16:23

Dave [1] - 21:1
days [3] - 29:7, 31:23, 31:24
deal [1] - 29:7
dealer [1] - 24:25
dealing [1] - 12:6
dealings [5] - 12:14, 12:23, 18:17, 18:20, 22:14
December [3] - 1:2, 1:16, 1:19
decide [1] - 33:18
definitely [1] - 33:1
department [7] - 4:19, 19:8, 19:12, 19:14, 19:16, 25:8, 26:19
Department [1] - 19:7
Deputy [5] - 30:2, 31:19, 31:21, 32:2, 33:15
DESCRIPTION [1] - 1:3
desk [4] - 3:11, 5:12, 10:14, 11:17
detailed [1] - 31:13
Detective [5] - 21:9, 22:1, 23:12, 24:13
detectives [2] - 10:9, 19:22
determined [2] - 23:9, 26:8
Dickhout [4] - 21:10, 22:1, 23:12, 24:13
Dickson [5] - 19:4, 19:6, 21:1, 31:1, 2:4
DICKSON [4] - 19:5, 25:6, 26:13, 31:3
difficult [1] - 31:3
difficulty [1] - 15:11
direction [1] - 34:2
directly [3] - 10:15, 11:15
disappear [1] - 27:20
disappearance [2] - 16:24, 20:1
disclosed [1] - 15:14
discuss [2] - 5:4, 25:9
discussed [1] - 31:6
discussing [1] - 30:23
discussion [1] - 3:22
discussions [3] - 30:24, 33:12, 33:20
distances [1] - 32:22
disturbing [1] - 19:12
doctor [1] - 26:1

Document [2] - 27:7, 1:5
document [10] - 14:10, 14:11, 14:12, 15:13, 15:15, 17:5, 17:7, 18:7, 20:12, 27:3
documents [3] - 13:13, 13:14, 13:16
DOJ [1] - 31:9
Don [1] - 17:15
done [3] - 9:22, 11:12, 20:21
down [5] - 3:11, 15:5, 16:2, 26:15, 31:4
downtown [2] - 16:21, 25:5
Downtown [3] - 2:9, 4:5, 15:4
driving [1] - 20:21
drop [2] - 21:2, 21:3
drop-in [2] - 21:2, 21:3
Drug [1] - 28:8
drug [3] - 2:5, 5:10, 24:25
drugs [1] - 28:9
during [2] - 33:12, 33:21
duties [1] - 33:7

E

early [5] - 20:18, 21:16, 23:15, 23:16, 23:23
Eastside [3] - 2:9, 4:6, 15:4
efforts [1] - 7:5
either [1] - 12:24
elements [1] - 6:22
employee [1] - 26:8
employees [1] - 19:15
entitled [3] - 14:11, 27:7, 1:5
entry [1] - 26:10
Eric [1] - 1:21
Eric's [1] - 3:4
estimate [6] - 30:7, 30:12, 30:14, 30:16, 32:9, 33:5
estimates [1] - 32:12
Evans [3] - 30:2, 32:2, 33:15
Evans' [2] - 33:1, 33:5
Evenhanded [2] - 22:6, 31:21

event [2] - 25:19, 33:16
eventually [4] - 4:10, 4:13, 5:9, 5:11
evidence [5] - 29:11, 30:4, 30:20, 33:1, 33:5
evident [1] - 33:22
exam [3] - 2:4, 2:4, 2:5
Examination [2] - 27:8, 1:6
EXAMINATION [5] - 1:13, 7:16, 13:8, 19:5, 28:6
examination [3] - 27:10, 29:18, 29:24
exciting [1] - 2:3
excused [1] - 27:12
EXCUSED [1] - 29:4
exhibit [1] - 27:3
Exhibit [1] - 27:6
EXHIBIT [2] - 27:7, 1:5
exhibits [1] - 12:20
EXHIBITS [1] - 1:1
expanded [1] - 15:23
expect [2] - 30:24, 31:14
expects [1] - 19:14
expressed [1] - 33:24
expresses [1] - 18:15
extending [2] - 33:9, 33:23

F

fact [1] - 15:8
fairly [1] - 18:24
false [1] - 26:10
Families [2] - 27:9, 1:7
families [1] - 13:10
Family [1] - 2:3
family [2] - 12:12, 28:21
far [1] - 31:4
February [2] - 2:22, 2:23
felt [2] - 6:11, 6:13
few [2] - 7:14, 29:13
figure [2] - 7:23, 8:10
file [8] - 18:14, 20:18, 21:12, 22:1, 22:5, 23:19, 24:12, 25:19
filed [3] - 14:14, 14:21
files [1] - 20:13

filing [1] - 14:18
finally [1] - 17:22
finish [1] - 31:23
finished [1] - 33:17
first [8] - 1:21, 9:8, 11:25, 13:20, 14:13, 16:5, 24:7, 30:9
firsthand [1] - 14:17
follow [1] - 24:3
force [1] - 10:10
foregoing [1] - 34:14
forth [1] - 31:11
forward [1] - 17:3
frequent [1] - 2:9
frequented [1] - 4:5
Friday [5] - 32:3, 33:2, 33:15, 33:16, 33:25
Fridays [1] - 33:19
front [4] - 3:11, 5:12, 10:13, 11:17
frustrated [1] - 16:22
frustrating [1] - 26:20

G

general [1] - 7:4
Gervais [3] - 19:2, 30:21, 30:22
GERVAIS [2] - 19:3, 30:22
girl [2] - 4:1, 4:3
girls [3] - 7:10, 12:9, 16:20
given [1] - 26:23
Government [2] - 26:23, 31:10
Gratl [2] - 32:11, 32:12
Gratl's [1] - 32:8
guess [1] - 31:6
Gulf [1] - 22:15

H

habit [1] - 5:10
half [2] - 16:1, 31:17
hallucinating [1] - 25:22
hand [2] - 13:6, 15:25
hands [1] - 32:17
hard [1] - 8:10
hear [6] - 2:25, 3:2, 5:24, 12:8, 26:11, 27:24
heard [10] - 16:6, 20:14, 23:24, 25:17, 29:8, 29:19, 29:20,

<p>31:18, 31:21, 33:4 hearing [4] - 1:4, 31:22, 33:10, 34:7 help [4] - 7:17, 7:23, 31:1, 32:9 Help [1] - 8:6 helpful [2] - 30:5, 31:16 hereby [1] - 34:14 herself [1] - 8:8 highlight [1] - 18:11 home [1] - 9:16 hour [2] - 31:7, 31:14 hours [3] - 17:12, 30:25, 31:15 house [1] - 25:15 House [1] - 23:24 hurt [1] - 29:25</p>	<p>Island [2] - 22:21, 23:9 Islands [1] - 22:15 issue [2] - 25:23, 26:4</p>	<p>Livingston [3] - 28:3, 28:7, 2:5 LIVINGSTON [3] - 28:4, 28:6, 29:2 lobbied [1] - 16:3 located [1] - 11:4 look [2] - 33:9, 33:23 looking [2] - 15:25, 32:19 Lori [1] - 15:17 loss [2] - 26:17, 27:14 loved [2] - 2:2, 2:4 LTD [1] - 34:21 lunch [1] - 33:19</p>	<p>message [1] - 17:14 met [3] - 7:19, 21:13, 24:5 methadone [1] - 28:24 mid [3] - 5:23, 22:2, 24:5 middle [1] - 20:11 might [3] - 21:17, 30:5, 32:5 mind [1] - 32:2 miss [1] - 2:14 missing [20] - 3:12, 3:24, 4:18, 4:19, 5:7, 11:12, 12:9, 13:10, 14:24, 15:3, 15:5, 15:8, 15:21, 16:5, 16:20, 17:23, 18:1, 20:13, 22:8 Missing [7] - 4:23, 5:15, 10:12, 14:11, 14:15, 27:7, 1:5 mistaken [1] - 26:8 misunderstood [1] - 12:18 mix [1] - 9:21 moments [1] - 29:13 Monday [1] - 32:5 months [4] - 11:22, 14:13, 15:19, 17:10 Montreal [2] - 21:17, 21:24 morning [1] - 20:15 mother [2] - 1:14, 2:2 Mother's [2] - 2:18, 5:23 mother's [1] - 25:14 motions [2] - 29:7, 29:8 move [3] - 15:23, 16:6, 17:3 MR [32] - 1:6, 1:13, 4:14, 6:17, 7:11, 7:13, 7:15, 7:16, 13:2, 13:5, 13:8, 13:19, 18:25, 19:5, 25:6, 26:13, 26:22, 27:2, 27:10, 28:3, 29:6, 30:11, 30:15, 31:1, 31:3, 31:9, 31:10, 31:16, 31:25, 32:10, 32:24, 33:12 MS [5] - 19:3, 28:4, 28:6, 29:2, 30:22 murdered [1] - 13:10</p>	<p>9:7, 13:9, 19:6, 20:5, 24:17, 24:20 named [1] - 21:1 names [2] - 9:2, 10:5 nasty [2] - 7:25, 8:2 Nathanson [4] - 1:5, 7:13, 27:2, 2:3 NATHANSON [7] - 1:6, 1:13, 4:14, 6:17, 7:11, 7:15, 27:10 need [5] - 29:6, 29:17, 32:8, 32:15, 33:8 Neil [1] - 13:9 Network [1] - 28:8 never [3] - 7:19, 12:1, 12:17 new [2] - 15:22, 26:8 news [3] - 15:16, 17:10, 17:16 next [2] - 4:15, 27:3 NO [1] - 1:3 Nobody [1] - 16:11 Nobody's [1] - 16:11 North [2] - 9:22, 9:23 notes [1] - 17:8 Nothing [1] - 8:14 nothing [2] - 12:10, 16:19 notwithstanding [1] - 33:24 November [10] - 17:9, 18:7, 18:9, 23:23, 24:1, 24:5, 24:11, 25:23, 26:13 NR [1] - 27:4 number [4] - 5:18, 11:22, 23:6, 24:7 numbers [1] - 15:22</p>
I	J	M	O	
<p>idea [4] - 11:10, 29:1, 29:25, 33:6 identified [1] - 15:24 identity [1] - 23:7 imagine [3] - 20:23, 27:16, 27:18 imagined [1] - 25:18 important [1] - 27:24 impression [2] - 6:6, 7:21 improve [1] - 27:25 IN [1] - 1:13 includes [1] - 17:7 inclusion [1] - 17:16 INDEX [1] - 2:2 information [3] - 18:14, 18:23, 23:13 input [1] - 32:1 Inquiry [2] - 27:8, 1:6 inspecting [1] - 25:9 interactions [2] - 19:18, 26:19 interest [1] - 22:23 interests [1] - 30:22 interrogated [2] - 6:7, 6:12 interrogating [1] - 6:14 Interrogating [1] - 6:15 interviewed [5] - 5:21, 9:18, 10:2, 21:13, 24:12 intimidating [1] - 26:20 investigation [2] - 22:6, 26:14 Investigation [1] - 15:21</p>	<p>January [3] - 2:21, 34:3, 34:7 Jarvis [1] - 17:15 Jason [1] - 32:11 Jeanette [2] - 22:17, 23:19 jewellery [2] - 6:19, 6:23 job [1] - 12:11 Johnson [5] - 1:14, 16:4, 17:13, 17:17, 2:3 Judging [1] - 29:18 July [1] - 21:16 June [7] - 5:21, 6:1, 19:23, 20:11, 20:18, 21:1, 21:14</p>	<p>Main [7] - 3:11, 3:14, 4:15, 5:1, 10:19, 10:21, 10:22 maintenance [1] - 28:25 MAJAWA [2] - 26:22, 31:10 Majawa [2] - 26:22, 31:10 male [2] - 9:10, 9:21 man [4] - 22:22, 23:1, 23:7, 24:25 manholes [1] - 25:9 March [3] - 1:22, 3:4, 3:16 Margaret [1] - 34:20 Marion [7] - 1:6, 1:11, 1:14, 16:3, 17:13, 27:8, 1:6 MARION [2] - 1:9, 2:3 marked [2] - 27:3, 27:6 matter [3] - 3:7, 29:23, 30:23 matters [1] - 31:5 Mayne [2] - 22:21, 23:8 McKenzie [2] - 22:17, 23:20 media [1] - 16:23 medical [2] - 25:24, 26:10 meet [4] - 10:14, 11:9, 11:14, 12:12 member [2] - 21:13, 31:11 members [2] - 12:12, 19:15 men [2] - 10:3, 10:4 mention [1] - 14:6 mentioned [1] - 32:7</p>	<p>objection [1] - 7:13 obtain [1] - 23:6 obtained [1] - 20:22 obviously [1] - 29:10 occasion [1] - 6:4 occasions [3] - 2:14, 2:16, 2:19 October [3] - 22:14, 23:16, 26:24 OF [1] - 2:2 offered [1] - 28:24 officer [4] - 8:24, 9:8, 9:19, 11:25 officers [6] - 9:21, 10:7, 10:8, 12:24, 16:22, 20:4 offline [1] - 20:23 old [2] - 9:12, 14:3</p>	
L	K	N		
<p>last [5] - 2:7, 2:20, 17:3, 18:4, 25:25 late [1] - 22:6 leave [5] - 5:11, 5:18, 11:16, 24:17, 24:19 left [2] - 12:4, 17:13 LePard [2] - 31:19, 31:21 less [1] - 31:24 life [3] - 2:4, 2:7, 33:25 likely [1] - 30:3 Lindsay [2] - 15:17, 22:9 list [7] - 14:24, 15:3, 15:6, 16:5, 17:23, 18:2, 31:4 lived [2] - 22:20, 22:21 living [1] - 23:1</p>	<p>Keen [1] - 24:13 kill [1] - 25:1 Kim [1] - 15:18 kind [1] - 19:13 Kines [2] - 15:17, 22:9 knowledge [1] - 14:17 knows [1] - 33:14</p>	<p>name [11] - 1:10, 5:18, 8:16, 8:18, 9:3,</p>		

omens [1] - 25:17
once [1] - 28:17
one [9] - 8:23, 8:25, 9:3, 9:8, 9:18, 14:8, 16:17, 29:8, 30:25
Ontario [3] - 30:2, 32:3, 33:7
Order [1] - 1:4
ordered [1] - 20:19
originally [1] - 29:6
out-of-province [1] - 30:18
outgoing [1] - 2:3
outset [1] - 19:8
overview [1] - 31:20
own [1] - 33:25

P

package [4] - 13:16, 13:20, 17:4, 17:12
PAGE [1] - 1:3
page [12] - 13:20, 14:10, 15:13, 15:24, 16:2, 17:3, 17:4, 17:11, 17:12, 18:4
Palmer [3] - 9:3, 9:5, 9:6
paragraph [2] - 16:17, 18:12
parent [1] - 27:17
Parmar [1] - 9:3
part [2] - 22:25, 32:25
participation [1] - 34:5
particularly [1] - 27:21
partying [4] - 4:1, 4:11, 4:12, 5:10
pass [1] - 32:12
passed [1] - 27:3
past [1] - 22:21
patient [1] - 26:9
Patricia [31] - 1:14, 1:21, 2:1, 2:20, 2:25, 3:5, 4:20, 5:24, 7:3, 7:6, 13:22, 14:1, 14:24, 15:8, 15:21, 16:4, 17:22, 18:1, 18:23, 20:13, 20:19, 21:17, 22:7, 22:20, 23:25, 24:22, 24:24, 26:9, 27:21, 28:9, 2:3
Patricia's [7] - 1:16, 2:11, 20:1, 21:5, 22:8, 22:17, 25:24
Patty [2] - 25:3, 25:4
pause [2] - 16:8, 16:14

people [6] - 21:5, 21:8, 29:17, 30:6, 32:23, 33:3
People [1] - 32:6
perceive [1] - 15:7
perhaps [5] - 7:23, 22:12, 29:23, 31:6, 31:17
period [1] - 32:18
Person [1] - 10:12
person [4] - 17:23, 18:1, 22:9, 22:23
persons [3] - 4:19, 14:24, 15:3
Persons [4] - 4:23, 5:16, 14:11, 14:15
persuading [1] - 15:11
phone [13] - 3:12, 3:14, 3:19, 4:25, 7:25, 8:2, 8:7, 8:8, 11:3, 11:12, 16:12, 19:10, 19:19
phoned [1] - 5:1
photograph [4] - 13:21, 14:1, 14:3, 21:5
photographs [4] - 6:19, 14:6, 14:8, 20:19
photos [1] - 23:8
physician [1] - 28:21
Pickton [2] - 6:20, 26:17
picture [1] - 13:21
pictures [9] - 4:18, 4:20, 5:5, 5:12, 10:13, 11:13, 11:23, 12:1, 12:4
plan [2] - 33:1, 33:16
poems [1] - 2:3
point [2] - 17:25, 31:15
Police [7] - 10:8, 12:25, 15:22, 19:7, 19:20, 19:22, 26:16
police [37] - 5:12, 6:1, 6:18, 7:5, 8:20, 8:23, 9:8, 9:23, 10:2, 10:10, 10:24, 11:1, 11:22, 12:3, 12:7, 12:14, 12:24, 14:7, 14:8, 14:23, 15:8, 15:11, 15:14, 15:20, 16:4, 16:19, 17:18, 17:25, 18:8, 18:16, 18:20, 18:22, 19:9, 20:6, 29:21, 33:7
position [2] - 30:12, 30:21

possessions [2] - 12:16, 12:17
possible [2] - 25:10, 32:14
possibly [3] - 10:21, 31:7, 31:8
poster [2] - 17:17, 22:9
previous [1] - 30:24
probe [1] - 15:23
problem [1] - 2:5
procedural [1] - 29:7
proceeding [1] - 29:10
proceedings [1] - 34:16
PROCEEDINGS [3] - 1:3, 34:9, 2:2
Proceedings [1] - 2:5
property [1] - 6:20
provide [1] - 30:12
province [1] - 30:18
publicize [1] - 16:23
published [1] - 15:18
put [2] - 25:11, 31:11

Q

query [2] - 20:21, 20:22
questions [18] - 6:10, 6:11, 7:11, 7:14, 13:4, 13:5, 13:12, 18:25, 19:2, 19:3, 26:21, 26:25, 27:11, 28:3, 28:4, 29:2, 29:20, 30:19
quite [5] - 23:18, 31:4, 31:7, 31:8
quote [2] - 16:17, 18:12

R

RCMP [9] - 9:25, 10:7, 12:24, 17:7, 18:6, 22:15, 26:13, 31:12, 31:20
RCMP-017-007241 [1] - 17:6
RCMP-020-005355 [1] - 18:5
Re [1] - 17:13
re [1] - 27:10
re-examination [1] - 27:10
real [1] - 29:21
really [4] - 14:5, 18:13, 28:15, 31:25

reasons [1] - 26:23
receive [1] - 3:5
received [3] - 12:1, 12:18, 23:13
recently [1] - 21:9
recognize [2] - 6:22, 6:25
recognized [1] - 21:8
recollection [4] - 13:14, 16:9, 16:15, 17:1
RECONVENED [1] - 1:3
record [5] - 15:16, 17:5, 18:5, 20:21, 20:22
records [4] - 20:20, 25:24, 25:25, 26:10
recovered [1] - 6:20
reflect [1] - 33:20
REGISTRAR [6] - 1:4, 1:10, 1:12, 13:18, 27:6, 34:7
relapse [1] - 28:20
relation [1] - 22:12
relationship [1] - 2:11
release [1] - 17:16
relevant [1] - 18:13
reliable [2] - 25:16, 25:22
remember [15] - 9:7, 17:21, 20:5, 21:9, 21:18, 22:3, 23:10, 23:16, 24:3, 24:9, 24:16, 24:18, 25:2, 26:1, 26:4
remind [1] - 29:14
repeat [1] - 15:9
report [10] - 3:12, 14:14, 14:18, 14:20, 17:11, 19:11, 19:25, 20:7, 32:16, 32:20
Report [4] - 14:12, 14:15, 17:6, 18:6
reported [4] - 3:24, 15:20, 20:13, 25:20
reporter [1] - 16:7
REPORTING [1] - 34:21
reports [2] - 11:12, 17:12
rescheduled [2] - 24:6, 24:8
residence [1] - 23:8
response [2] - 4:8, 5:20
restaurant [1] - 24:21
result [1] - 3:9

resumed [1] - 1:4
return [1] - 29:16
returned [2] - 12:15, 12:17
returning [1] - 33:6
review [2] - 20:18, 21:12
reviewed [1] - 22:5
right-hand [1] - 15:25
ring [2] - 7:1, 12:18
Robyn [1] - 30:22
room [4] - 4:22, 27:15, 27:18, 30:6

S

satisfied [1] - 7:5
saw [2] - 11:22, 12:20
scheduled [1] - 29:15
School [1] - 24:2
second [1] - 17:11
see [4] - 2:20, 8:20, 22:1, 25:19
seek [2] - 28:11, 28:17
seem [1] - 32:6
send [2] - 30:16, 33:5
sense [5] - 8:9, 8:11, 20:6, 20:10, 33:2
sent [1] - 22:9
September [5] - 15:19, 22:8, 22:13, 23:12
Sergeant [1] - 17:15
series [1] - 17:8
seriously [3] - 19:13, 19:17, 33:9
SERVICE [1] - 34:21
services [2] - 25:24, 26:10
set [1] - 34:8
Seth [1] - 32:10
several [5] - 5:17, 6:5, 8:21, 9:1
sewer [5] - 25:3, 25:5, 25:8, 25:9, 25:11
sewers [2] - 24:22, 25:10
shorter [2] - 31:7, 33:19
show [8] - 3:25, 4:10, 4:13, 5:9, 5:11, 6:18, 13:12, 25:25
showed [3] - 21:5, 22:13, 23:8

<p>shows [1] - 21:12 sister [2] - 14:16, 14:17 sit [5] - 26:15, 33:1, 33:14, 33:16, 33:18 sitting [1] - 33:23 skill [1] - 34:17 Skipping [1] - 16:17 slides [1] - 12:20 slip [1] - 28:20 snappy [1] - 8:3 Snappy [1] - 8:4 someone [3] - 23:25, 25:11, 32:9 Somewhere [1] - 11:5 son [1] - 27:19 son's [1] - 3:17 soon [2] - 32:1, 32:13 sooner [1] - 26:18 sorry [6] - 9:4, 17:4, 23:15, 26:17, 26:18 Sorry [1] - 6:13 sort [1] - 2:16 sought [1] - 28:19 sounding [1] - 31:16 speaking [4] - 7:24, 11:3, 19:10, 28:7 staff [1] - 26:7 stamped [3] - 17:8, 18:7 start [4] - 29:15, 30:4, 32:3, 32:5 starting [1] - 33:18 startling [1] - 15:22 state [1] - 1:10 statement [2] - 6:2, 8:21 station [5] - 5:12, 9:23, 10:24, 11:1, 19:9 steps [2] - 20:24, 24:2 still [1] - 30:23 Stoppers [1] - 23:23 story [2] - 15:17, 17:10 Street [3] - 3:11, 3:14, 4:15 streets [2] - 25:6, 25:7 student [1] - 32:10 subject [2] - 11:13, 34:2 suggestion [1] - 22:20 summary [1] - 23:13 Sun [4] - 15:18, 16:7,</p>	<p>17:16, 22:10 Superintendent [3] - 29:15, 30:8, 33:13 sympathetic [1] - 27:16 system [1] - 27:25</p> <p style="text-align: center;">T</p> <p>team [1] - 22:6 telephone [4] - 5:18, 8:10, 23:6, 23:19 terms [2] - 7:22, 8:20 testified [1] - 21:12 testifying [1] - 27:14 testimony [1] - 19:9 text [1] - 15:16 THE [29] - 1:4, 1:5, 1:8, 1:10, 1:12, 4:11, 6:13, 6:15, 7:12, 13:4, 13:7, 13:18, 19:2, 19:4, 25:4, 26:21, 27:1, 27:5, 27:6, 27:13, 28:5, 29:3, 29:5, 30:9, 31:24, 32:15, 33:11, 34:4, 34:7 therapy [1] - 28:25 thinking [1] - 31:25 third [1] - 18:12 thoughtfulness [1] - 27:23 threatened [1] - 25:1 three [3] - 29:7, 31:23, 31:24 Thursday [1] - 33:15 Tim [1] - 19:6 tip [3] - 21:16, 22:16, 23:23 title [1] - 15:21 today [1] - 30:13 together [4] - 7:1, 29:12, 30:1, 30:5 tone [1] - 8:4 took [3] - 8:21, 24:2, 26:13 top [1] - 15:25 totally [1] - 19:13 touch [1] - 32:13 transcribed [1] - 34:16 transcript [1] - 34:15 treated [2] - 18:22, 18:24 treatment [3] - 28:11, 28:17, 28:19 trouble [1] - 15:7 true [7] - 21:19, 21:24, 22:24, 22:25, 23:3, 23:5, 34:15</p>	<p>trust [1] - 7:13 turn [5] - 13:20, 14:10, 15:13, 17:4, 18:4 turned [1] - 23:3 turns [1] - 15:22 two [7] - 1:21, 2:8, 2:12, 8:24, 30:25, 31:15</p> <p style="text-align: center;">U</p> <p>ultimately [1] - 24:6 under [1] - 31:20 Under [2] - 25:6, 25:7 uniform [1] - 9:14 Unit [2] - 5:16, 10:12 UNITED [1] - 34:21 unnecessarily [1] - 32:4 up [10] - 3:25, 4:10, 4:13, 5:9, 5:11, 13:6, 15:22, 24:3, 26:4, 27:3 update [1] - 22:2 updated [2] - 17:17, 17:25 upstairs [5] - 4:25, 5:1, 5:6, 10:16, 11:9 Users [1] - 28:8</p> <p style="text-align: center;">V</p> <p>Van [1] - 9:22 Vancouver [15] - 1:1, 9:23, 10:8, 12:25, 15:18, 16:7, 17:16, 19:7, 19:20, 19:22, 22:10, 24:1, 25:8, 26:16, 28:8 various [1] - 24:2 Vertlieb [1] - 29:5 VERTLIEB [12] - 7:13, 7:16, 13:2, 28:3, 29:6, 30:15, 31:1, 31:9, 31:16, 31:25, 32:24, 33:12 VICLAS [1] - 22:7 view [2] - 30:19, 31:1 visited [2] - 25:14, 26:7 voice [2] - 7:22, 8:4 voices [1] - 25:17 VPD [7] - 21:13, 21:20, 22:15, 23:20, 24:2, 24:5, 25:8 VPD's [1] - 31:1 VPD-003-002433 [1] - 15:15</p>	<p style="text-align: center;">W</p> <p>wants [1] - 30:9 Ward [3] - 13:11, 30:12, 30:16 Ward's [1] - 32:1 Wednesday [3] - 29:16, 33:14, 34:3 week [1] - 16:7 weekend [1] - 32:4 welfare [1] - 20:20 whole [1] - 25:18 Williams [4] - 29:15, 29:22, 30:8, 33:13 Williams' [1] - 32:16 Wills [1] - 34:20 wish [2] - 1:7, 31:5 WISH [4] - 21:2, 21:3, 21:6, 21:17 witness [2] - 13:17, 27:11 WITNESS [1] - 29:4 witnesses [2] - 30:18, 32:21 woman [16] - 3:20, 4:2, 4:9, 5:2, 5:3, 5:4, 5:8, 7:18, 10:12, 11:3, 19:10, 19:19, 21:17, 24:16, 25:15 woman's [3] - 4:8, 24:19, 25:14 women [5] - 10:3, 13:11, 15:4, 15:5, 16:5 Women [2] - 27:7, 1:5 world [1] - 8:1 worse [1] - 27:19 write [1] - 2:3 written [1] - 15:17</p> <p style="text-align: center;">Y</p> <p>year [2] - 20:10, 28:14 years [4] - 1:18, 2:7, 2:8 young [1] - 28:16</p>
--	--	---	--